
 
 
 

 
Democratic Services Your ref:  
Riverside, Temple Street, Keynsham, Bristol BS31 1LA Our ref:  
Telephone: (01225) 477000 main switchboard Date: 5 December 2011 
Direct Lines - Tel: 01225 395090  Fax: 01225 394439 E-mail: Democratic_Services@bathnes.gov.uk 
Web-site - http://www.bathnes.gov.uk   
 
 

To: All Members of the Licensing Committee 
 

Councillors: Sarah Bevan (Chair), Gabriel Batt, John Bull, Bryan Chalker, 
Anthony Clarke, Gerry Curran, Malcolm Lees, Paul Myers, Douglas Nicol, June Player, 
Manda Rigby, Dine Romero and Tim Warren 

 
Chief Executive and other appropriate officers  
Press and Public  

 
 
Dear Member 
 
Licensing Committee: Tuesday, 13th December, 2011  
 
You are invited to attend a meeting of the Licensing Committee, to be held on Tuesday, 13th 
December, 2011 at 10.30 am in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath. 
 
The agenda is set out overleaf. 
 
Yours sincerely 
 
 
 
 
Sean O'Neill 
for Chief Executive 
 
 
 

If you need to access this agenda or any of the supporting reports in an alternative 
accessible format please contact Democratic Services or the relevant report author 
whose details are listed at the end of each report. 

 
This Agenda and all accompanying reports are printed on recycled paper 

 



NOTES: 
 

1. Inspection of Papers: Any person wishing to inspect minutes, reports, or a list of the 
background papers relating to any item on this Agenda should contact Sean O'Neill who is 
available by telephoning Bath 01225 395090 or by calling at the Riverside Offices 
Keynsham (during normal office hours). 
 

2. Public Speaking at Meetings: The Council has a scheme to encourage the public to 
make their views known at meetings. They may make a statement relevant to what the 
meeting has power to do.  They may also present a petition or a deputation on behalf of a 
group.  Advance notice is required not less than two full working days before the meeting 
(this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays notice must be received in Democratic 
Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday)  
 
The public may also ask a question to which a written answer will be given. Questions 
must be submitted in writing to Democratic Services at least two full working days in 
advance of the meeting (this means that for meetings held on Wednesdays, notice must 
be received in Democratic Services by 4.30pm the previous Friday). If an answer cannot 
be prepared in time for the meeting it will be sent out within five days afterwards. Further 
details of the scheme can be obtained by contacting Sean O'Neill as above. 
 

3. Details of Decisions taken at this meeting can be found in the minutes which will be 
published as soon as possible after the meeting, and also circulated with the agenda for 
the next meeting.  In the meantime details can be obtained by contacting Sean O'Neill as 
above. 
 
Appendices to reports are available for inspection as follows:- 
 
Public Access points - Riverside - Keynsham, Guildhall - Bath, Hollies - Midsomer 
Norton, and Bath Central, Keynsham and Midsomer Norton public libraries.   
 
For Councillors and Officers papers may be inspected via Political Group Research 
Assistants and Group Rooms/Members' Rooms. 
 

4. Attendance Register: Members should sign the Register which will be circulated at the 
meeting. 
 

5. THE APPENDED SUPPORTING DOCUMENTS ARE IDENTIFIED BY AGENDA ITEM 
NUMBER. 
 

6. Emergency Evacuation Procedure 
 
When the continuous alarm sounds, you must evacuate the building by one of the 
designated exits and proceed to the named assembly point.  The designated exits are 
sign-posted. 
 
Arrangements are in place for the safe evacuation of disabled people. 
 

 



 

 

Licensing Committee - Tuesday, 13th December, 2011 
 

at 10.30 am in the Council Chamber  - Guildhall, Bath 
 

A G E N D A 
 
1. EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 The Chair will draw attention to the emergency evacuation procedure as set out under 

Note 7. 
 

2. ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR (IF DESIRED)  
3. APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
4. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 To receive any declarations from Members/Officers of personal/prejudicial interests in 

respect of matters for consideration at this meeting together with their statements on 
the nature of any such interests declared. 
 

5. TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
6. ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 

PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS  
7. MINUTES: 28 MARCH 2011 (Pages 5 - 8) 
8. REVIEW OF FUNCTIONS CARRIED OUT BY THE COUNCIL'S LICENSING SUB-

COMMITTEES (Pages 9 - 18) 
9. CONSULTATION ON THE ADOPTION OF NEW POWERS UNDER SCHEDULE 3 

TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1982 
(Pages 19 - 50) 

10. CASINO LICENSING PROCEDURE (Pages 51 - 58) 
 The Chair will explain the procedure to be followed for the next item on the agenda. 
11. GRANT OF A PREMISES LICENCE FOR A SMALL CASINO IN BATH - STAGE 2 OF 

THE CASINO COMPETITION (Pages 59 - 198) 
 
The Committee Administrator for this meeting is Sean O'Neill who can be contacted on  
01225 395090. 
 
 



This page is intentionally left blank



Bath and North East Somerset Council 
 

 

 
Page 1 

 

 
LICENSING COMMITTEE 
 
Minutes of the Meeting held 
Monday, 28th March, 2011, 10.30 am 

 
 
Councillors: Tim Warren (Chair), Simon Allen, Gabriel Batt, Bryan Chalker, Gerry Curran, 
Malcolm Lees and Carol Paradise 
 
Also in attendance: Andrew Jones (Environmental Monitoring and Licensing Manager) and 
Shaine Lewis (Senior Legal Adviser) 

 
10 
  

EMERGENCY EVACUATION PROCEDURE  
 
The Democratic Services Officer read out the procedure. 
 

11 
  

ELECTION OF VICE-CHAIR (IF DESIRED)  
 
Councillor Gabriel Batt was elected Vice-Chair. 
 

12 
  

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS  
 
Apologies were received from Councillors Tim Ball and Steve Hedges. 
 

13 
  

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 
There were none. 
 

14 
  

TO ANNOUNCE ANY URGENT BUSINESS AGREED BY THE CHAIR  
 
There was no urgent business, but the Environmental and Licensing Manager invited 
Members to suggest any changes to the structure and remit of the Licensing Sub-
Committees that could be recommended to the Council after the May election. 
 
Members felt that it would be more appropriate to delegate responsibility for the 
consideration of applications for table and chairs permits to the Licensing (Gambling 
& Licensing) Sub-Committee rather than to the Licensing (Taxis, Street Trading and 
Miscellaneous) Sub-Committee. 
 
The Environmental and Licensing Manager updated Members on progress with 
casino applications. He said that the period for representations had ended the 
previous day. The validity of representations received was being assessed. There 
was a two-stage application process. At stage 1 applications would be considered by 
the Licensing (Gambling and Licensing) Sub-Committee. Responding to a question 
from a Member, the Chair reminded the Committee that it had been agreed that 
Members who had voted against the principle of a casino in Bath would not sit on the 
Sub-Committee. 
 

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 7

Page 5



 

 
Page 2 of 3 

 

The Chair noted that this would be the last meeting of the Licensing Committee 
before the May election and thanked Members and officers for their support. 
 

15 
  

ITEMS FROM THE PUBLIC - TO RECEIVE DEPUTATIONS, STATEMENTS, 
PETITIONS OR QUESTIONS  
 
There were none. 
 

16 
  

MINUTES: 5 OCTOBER 2010  
 
These were approved as a correct record and signed by the Chair. 
 

17 
  

PROPOSED FOOTWAYS OBSTRUCTIONS POLICY AND CONDITIONS  
 
The Environmental and Licensing Manager presented the report. He said that the 
Committee’s comments would be included in a report to the Cabinet Member for 
Service Delivery, who would take the decision on the proposed policy. The aim of the 
policy was to ensure that the highway could be used for its primary purpose of 
facilitating movement in the public realm. It was intended to provide guidance on the 
siting of items placed on the highway and to introduce a system of permits. It was 
expected that a permit would cost £100. 
 
Councillor Lees asked whether it was intended to apply the policy throughout the 
Council’s area. The Licensing and Environmental Manager replied that depending on 
the responses to the consultation, it might be appropriate to limit its application to 
urban areas. Councillor Lees said that the thought the policy went too far; A-frames 
were largely concentrated in Bath city centre and he suggested that the application 
of the policy should be limited to where there were the most problems, in a manner 
akin to the cumulative impact policy for licensed premises. He suggested it would be 
inappropriate to charge a village grocer a fee for putting items outside his shop. The 
Senior Legal Adviser said that shopkeepers were legally entitled to display their 
wares outside their shops and the policy document provided guidance about what 
was considered reasonable. Councillor Lees wondered why it was not possible to 
control highway obstructions with existing policy rather than introducing a new 
licensing regime. Councillor Chalker suggested that what was needed was common 
sense rather than more regulation; shopkeepers could be asked to site objects 
nearer to their shops. Councillor Curran said he did not think a charge of £100 for a 
permit was excessive and that people in Weston or Keynsham had as much right to 
unobstructed pavements as people in central Bath. Unrestrained cluttering of the 
highway could not be allowed. Councillor Lees said that obstruction was more likely 
to occur where the most people were. Councillor Paradise said that the number of 
passers-by varied greatly between weekdays and Saturdays. The Chair agreed with 
Councillor Curran that the same rules should apply everywhere. 
 
Councillor Batt suggested that if permits were introduced they should last for a full 
year from the date granted and not terminate on 31st March irrespective of the date 
of grant. 
 
Councillor Chalker asked about the status of parked vehicles carrying advertising 
boards. He had recently telephoned Cash for Cars about an unlicensed vehicle 
carrying one of their advertisements and they had agreed to move it. The 
Environmental and Licensing Manager said that the control of advertising was the 

Page 6



 

 
Page 3 of 3 

 

responsibility of Planning, not Environmental Services. The Senior Legal Adviser 
said that owner of a motor-propelled vehicle which was taxed and insured had the 
right to have it on the highway. However, in recent cases advertisements on parked 
vehicles had been held to be unlawful. He added that the Council did not have the 
power to fine anyone who placed an object on the highway without a permit or who 
failed to comply with the terms of their permit. If the object caused an immediate 
danger the Council could confiscate it and, if it caused an obstruction, could take the 
owner to the Magistrates’ Court. If a case in the Magistrates’ Court was successful, 
the Council would be able to recover costs. 
  
The Chair noted Councillor Curran’s comment that £100 was not a large fee, but felt 
that applying for a permit was an additional burden that small businesses could well 
do without it. He agreed that there needed to be controls, but suggested that simple 
rules, e.g. telling retailers to keep any objects within 1.5 metres of their shops, were 
preferable to a system of permits. Councillor Lees agreed that if a system of permits 
would give the Council no more powers than it had already, it would be better to 
publish a set of guidelines. The Environmental and Licensing Manager said that it 
would be possible to start off with a voluntary code of practice. However the proposal 
for a permit system had been intended to move policy forwards. Local Authorities 
had different approaches to street obstructions; some had a system of permits, 
others seemed not to be very concerned about obstructions. The Senior Legal 
Adviser said that the Highways Act did not allow local authorities to recover the costs 
of enforcement within the permit fees or enable an authority to impose a fine. 
Councillor Paradise thought that the use of A-frames could be counterproductive as 
they could deter prospective customers from venturing down cluttered alleyways.  
 
After further discussion it was RESOLVED unanimously to recommend to the 
Cabinet Member for Service Delivery 
 
(i) to adopt the Policy and Conditions on Footway Obstructions: 
 
(ii) not to establish a permit system for placing A –frames on the highway; 
 
(iii) to review these decisions after one year and after further consultation with the 
Licensing Committee. 
 
 
 

The meeting ended at 11.31 am  
 

Chair(person)  
 

Date Confirmed and Signed  
 

Prepared by Democratic Services 
 

Page 7



Page 8



Printed on recycled paper 1

 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 

 
MEETING: Licensing Committee 
MEETING 
DATE: 13th December 2011 AGENDA 

ITEM 
NUMBER  

TITLE: Review of functions carried out by the Council’s Licensing Sub-Committees 
WARD: ALL 

 
AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

List of attachments to this report: 
Appendix A; Terms of Reference for the Licensing Committee taken from the Council’s 
Constitution. 
 
 
 
1 THE ISSUE 
 
1.1 A request has been made by the Chair of the Licensing (Gambling and Licensing) 

Sub-Committee that applications received for Amenities on the Highway (Tables 
and Chairs) are determined by the Gambling and Licensing Sub-Committee instead 
of the Taxis, Street Trading and Miscellaneous Sub-Committee. 

  
 

2   RECOMMENDATION 

The Licensing Committee is asked to: 
2.1 Determine whether or not they want to change the Council’s Terms of Reference 

for the Licensing Committee and, if so, make a recommendation to Full Council to 
amend the Council’s Constitution.  

 
3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
3.1 There are no financial implications to this report as it is a matter of transferring an 

existing responsibility from one sub-committee to another. 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 8

Page 9



Printed on recycled paper 2

4 THE REPORT 
4.1 Sections 115 A-K of the Highways Act 1980 relate to the provision of Amenities on 

certain highways. 
 

4.2 Upon application the Council may grant permission to provide, maintain and 
operate facilities for recreation and/or refreshment on a highway. 

 
4.3 A grant of permission under Section 115E of the Highways Act 1980 is not to be 

unreasonably withheld but permissions may be given subject to any reasonable 
conditions that the Council thinks fit (Section 115J of the Highways Act 1980). 

 
4.4 In accordance with current Bath & North East Somerset Council policy, the 

Licensing Service consult on all applications received with the Police, the 
Council’s Highways Maintenance Services, Property Services, Development 
Control Services, Ward Councillors and affected frontagers. 

 
4.5 When objections are received against the application then the matter is brought 

before the Taxis, Street Trading and Miscellaneous Sub-Committee for 
determination, as in accordance with the Council’s Terms of Reference for the 
Licensing Committee.   A full copy of the Council’s Terms of Reference for the 
Licensing Committee are provided in Appendix A. 

 
4.6 The Chair of the Gambling and Licensing Sub-Committee has asked for a report 

to be brought before the Licensing Committee in order that the Committee can 
discuss moving the responsibility of determining applications for Amenities on the 
Highways from the Taxis, Street Trading and Miscellaneous Sub-Committee to the 
Gambling and Licensing Sub-Committee on the grounds that the significant 
number of premises with Amenities on the Highway also have a licence to sell 
alcohol. 

 
4.7 Out of 68 issued Tables and Chairs permits, 39 are licensed to sell alcohol. 
 
4.8 If the Licensing Committee are minded to move the responsibility of determining 

applications for Amenities on the Highway from one sub-committee to another 
then the main committee will need to make a recommendation to Council that the 
Terms of Reference are amended to reflect the change. 

 
 
5 RISK MANAGEMENT 
5.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 

undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

 
6 EQUALITIES 
6.1 The Council’s Equality Policy has been followed in writing this report and there are 

no issues as the function remains intact. 
 

Page 10



Printed on recycled paper 3

 
 
7 CONSULTATION 
7.1 This report has been drafted together with the Council’s Legal and Democratic 

Services. 
 
8. HUMAN RIGHTS 
8.1 In order to be compatible with the European Convention of Human Rights (the 

Convention) regard must be had to Convention rights in the decision making 
process.  Therefore, the Council must strike a fair balance between the competing 
interests of individuals and the community as a whole. 

 
9 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 
9.1 Social Inclusion; Public Safety. 
 
10 ADVICE SOUGHT 
10.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Council Solicitor) has had the opportunity to 

input to this report and have cleared it for publication. 
 
 
 

Contact person  Andrew Jones, Environmental Monitoring and Licensing 
Manager. 
Tel: 01225 477557 

Background 
papers 

Bath and North East Somerset’s Constitution; Section 5 Terms of 
Reference for the Licensing Committee. 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 

Page 11



Appendix A 

Printed on recycled paper 4

Extract from the Bath and North East Somerset Council’s Constitution. 
 
Part 5 Terms of Reference 
 
LICENSING COMMITTEE  
 
Status of the Committee 
 
The Licensing Committee shall be a statutory committee of the Council appointed to 
perform the discharge of the local authority's licensing functions, except the approval of 
Licensing policy and the setting up of a Committee. 
 
Licensing policy shall be the responsibility of the Cabinet Member for Service Delivery 
except where there is a statutory requirement for Full Council to determine policy. 
 
The setting up of a Licensing Committee shall be the responsibility of Full Council. 
 
Membership of the Committee 
 
The Committee shall comprise 12 elected members of the authority in the political group 
proportion (5 Cons: 5 Lib Dem: 1 Labour: 1 Independent), or such other proportion agreed 
by the Council from time to time. 
 
The Solicitor to the Council shall be authorised, by the Council, to fill vacancies on this 
Committee in accordance with the nominations of the relevant political group which holds 
the nomination rights to the vacancy. 
 
The Committee shall be chaired by a nominee of the Liberal Democrat Group. 
 
The Council's objectives on Licensing 
 
In exercising its functions the Committee will have regard to the Council’s visions of:- 
 
� Building communities where people feel safe and secure 
� Improving transport and the public realm 
� Enabling and promoting sustainable growth 
� Protecting the young, old and vulnerable 

 
In addition, the Committee will have regard to the statutory licensing objectives under the 
Licensing Act 2003, i.e.  
 
� the prevention of crime and disorder ; 
� public safety; 
� the prevention of public nuisance; and 
� the protection of children from harm.  

 
The Committee will also have regard to the statutory licensing objectives under the 
Gambling Act 2005, i.e. 
 
� preventing gambling from being a source of crime or disorder, being associated with 

crime or disorder or being used to support crime; 
� ensuring that gambling is conducted in a fair and open way, and 

Page 12



Appendix A 

Printed on recycled paper 5

� protecting children and other vulnerable persons from being harmed or exploited by 
gambling. 

 
In addition the Committee will, where applicable, have regard to –  
 
(a) the Council's Statement of Licensing Policy, published under section 5 of the 

Licensing Act 2003; 
 
(b) the Council’s Statement of Principles published under section 349 of the Gambling 

Act 2005; 
 
(c) any other policy determined by Council or the Cabinet Member for Customer 

Services; 
 
(d) any Codes of Practice and Guidance issued from time to time by the Secretary of 

State; 
 
(e) the Council's Corporate Plan and improvement priorities insofar as these do not 

conflict with statutory requirements which take precedence. 
 
 
Powers and Duties of the Committee 
 
1. At the request of the Council, to review the Council's licensing policies at any time 

within the statutory 3 year period under the Licensing Act 2003 and Gambling Act 2005 
and to make recommendations to the Council for change, after the prescribed 
consultation has been completed. 
 

2. To carry out all of the Council's licensing functions as covered in the Licensing Act 
2003 and the Gambling Act 2005, excluding the making of the Licensing Policy,  and 
the setting up of a Licensing Committee (these being functions of the Council). 
 

3. To determine individual licence applications which fall outside Officer delegations, or 
which are referred by Officers for Member attention, in relation to the issue and renewal 
of all registrations, licences, permits, consents etc in relation to the enactments listed 
below and all such other enactments as may fall within the remit of the Committee: 
 
Animal Boarding Establishments Act 1963 
Animal Welfare Act 2006 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1973 
Breeding of Dogs Act 1991 
Canal Boats Act 1877 
Caravan Sites and Control of 
Development Act 1960 

Charities Act 2006 
Dangerous Wild Animals Act 1976 
Deer Act 1980 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 
Fireworks Act 2003 
Food Act 1984 
Food Safety Act 1990 
Gambling Act 2005 
Game Act 1831 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1976 

Local Government (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1982 

Performing Animals (Regulation) Act 1925 
Pet Animals Act 1951 
Pet Animals 1951 (Amendment) Act 1983 
Petroleum (Consolidation) Act 1936 
Poisons Act 1972 
Police Factories, etc (Miscellaneous 
Provisions) Act 1916 

Public Health (Control of Disease) Act 
1984 

 Riding Establishments Act 1964 
Riding Establishments Act 1970 
Scrap Metal Dealers Act 1964 

Page 13



Appendix A 

Printed on recycled paper 6

Game Licences Act 1860 
Guard Dogs Act 1975 
Highways Act 1980 Part VIIA  
House to House Collections Act 1939 
Hypnotism Act 1952 
Licensing Act 2003 
 

Theatres Act 1968 
Town Police Clauses Act 1847 
Town Police Clauses Act 1889 
Transport Act 1981 
Vehicles (Crime) Act 2001 
Violent Crime Reduction Act 2006 
Zoo Licensing Act 1981 
 

4. To determine appeals against decisions made by the Proper Officer under the 
Marriages and Civil Partnerships (Approved Premises) Regulations 2005. 

5. To establish one or more Sub-Committees and, subject to statutorily prescribed 
exceptions, to delegate any of its functions to such Sub Committee(s). 
 

6. Subject to statutorily prescribed exceptions, to delegate any of its functions to an 
Officer of the authority  

 
 
 
How the Committee will operate, including Substitution and Delegated Powers 
 
The Committee will meet in full to consider any matters on which it is asked or required to 
submit a recommendation to the Council. 
 
Substitutions will be permitted at meetings of the Licensing Committee from among other 
members of the Council, in accordance with non-Executive Committee Procedure Rule 11, 
as set out in the Constitution. 
 
The Committee has appointed 2 Sub-Committees to act as hearing Panels as follows: 
 
• Licensing (Gambling and Licensing) Sub-Committee [3 Members - 2 Liberal 

Democrat, 1 Conservative] – this Sub-Committee hears and determines all 
applications made under the Licensing Act 2003 and the Gambling Act 2005 
relating to Premises Licences, Personal Licences and gaming and club machine 
permits;  

 
• Licensing (Taxis, Street Trading and Miscellaneous) Sub-Committee [3 Members – 

2 Conservative, I Liberal Democrat] - this Sub-Committee hears and determines all 
applications relating to licences for hackney carriage and private hire 
vehicles/drivers/operators, Street Trading Consents and all applications relating to 
licences, permits and or consents for any other functions not covered by the other 
Sub-Committee. 

 
(Chairing nomination rights for both Sub-Committees are allocated to the Liberal Democrat 
Group).  
 
The Committee has delegated to those Sub-Committees and Officers the power to 
determine applications in the circumstances set out in the tables below. 
 
 The Committee has approved a scheme for substitutions with regard to the Sub 
Committees.  Substitutes will only be drawn from the membership of the Licensing 
Committee and the scheme allows for any member of the Licensing Committee to 
substitute at Sub-Committee meetings in accordance with the wishes of the political group 
arranging the substitution. 

Page 14



Appendix A 

Printed on recycled paper 7

 
TABLE OF DELEGATIONS OF LICENSING FUNCTIONS 

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH 

FULL 
COUNCIL 

LICENSING 
CTTEE SUB COMMITTEE OFFICERS 

 
LICENSING ACT 2003 
 
Approval of three year 
Statement of Licensing 
Policy and review 

All cases 
   

Application for Personal 
Licence   If a police objection is 

made 
If no objection made 

Application for Personal 
Licence, with unspent 
convictions 

 
 If a police objection is 

made 
If no objection made 

Application for Premises 
Licence/Club Premises 
Certificate 

 
 If a relevant 

representation is 
made 

If no relevant 
representation is  
made 

Application for Provisional 
Statement  

 If a relevant 
representation is 
made 

If no relevant 
representation is  
made 

Application to vary 
Premises Licence/Club 
Premises Certificate 

 
 If a relevant 

representation is 
made 

If no relevant 
representation is  
made 

Application to vary 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

 
 If a police objection is 

made 
All other cases 

Request to be removed as 
Designated Premises 
Supervisor 

 
  All cases 

Application for transfer of 
Premises Licence   If a police objection is 

made 
All other cases 

Application for interim 
authorities  

 If a police objection is 
made 
 

All other cases 

Application to review 
Premises Licence/Club 
Premises Certificate 

 
 All cases  

Decision on whether a 
complaint is irrelevant, 
frivolous, vexatious, etc. 

 
  All cases 

Decision to object when 
local authority is a 
consultee and not the 
relevant authority 
considering the application 

 
 All cases  

Determination of a police 
objection to a Temporary 
Event Notice 

 
 All cases  

Determination of Minor 
Variation applications for 
premises licences and for 
club premises certificates 

 
  All cases 

Determination of the 
removal of a Designated   If a relevant 

representation is 
All other cases 

Page 15



Appendix A 

Printed on recycled paper 8

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH 

FULL 
COUNCIL 

LICENSING 
CTTEE SUB COMMITTEE OFFICERS 

Premises Supervisor or 
Personal Licence Holder 
at community premises 

made 

Applications for the 
classification of 
unclassified films 

 
 All cases  

 
GAMBLING ACT 2005 
 
Approval of three year 
Statement of Licensing 
Principles and review 

X 
   

Policy not to permit 
casinos X    
Fee Setting - when 
appropriate  

  X  
(to be approved by 
Cabinet Member) 

Application for premises 
licences 

 
 Where 

representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for a variation 
to a licence 

 
 Where 

representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Application for a transfer 
of a licence 

 
 Where 

representations have 
been received from 
the Commission or 
responsible authority 

Where no 
representations 
received from the 
Commission or 
responsible authority 

Application for a 
provisional statement 

 
 Where 

representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Review of a premises 
licence   X  
Application for club 
gaming /club machine 
permits  

 Where 
representations have 
been received and not 
withdrawn 

Where no 
representations 
received/ 
representations have 
been withdrawn 

Cancellation of club 
gaming/ club machine 
permits 

 
 

X  
Applications for other 
permits    X 
Cancellation of licensed 
premises gaming machine 
permits 

 
 

 X 
Consideration of 
temporary use notice    X 
Decision to give a counter   X  

Page 16



Appendix A 

Printed on recycled paper 9

MATTER TO BE DEALT 
WITH 

FULL 
COUNCIL 

LICENSING 
CTTEE SUB COMMITTEE OFFICERS 

notice to a temporary use 
notice 
Consideration of an 
Occasional Use Notice    X 
Designation of “authorised 
person”.    X 
Exchange of information 
between various 
persons/bodies listed in 
the Act 

 
 

 X 

Decision to initiate 
criminal proceedings.    X 
Power to make Orders 
disapplying exempt 
gaming and the automatic 
entitlement to gaming 
machines in relation to 
specified premises. 

 

 

 X 

Functions relating to the 
registration and regulation 
of small society lotteries. 

 
 

 X 
To appoint an Advisory 
Panel  X   
Stage 1 of an application 
for a casino licence   X  
Stage 2 of an application 
for a casino licence 
 

 
X 

  

  
OTHER 
 

 
 

  
Determination of 
applications for hackney 
carriage/private hire 
drivers’ licences where 
applicants are aged 70 or 
over with no medical 
problems 

 

 

 X 

 
 

Page 17



Page 18

This page is intentionally left blank



 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 

 
MEETING: Licensing Committee 

DATE: Tuesday 13 December 2011 AGENDA 
ITEM 
NUMBER  

TITLE: Consultation on the adoption of new powers under Schedule 3 to the 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 

WARD: All 
AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM 

 

List of attachments to this report: 
 
Annex A:  Consultation Document 
 
Annex B:  Proposed Policy for Sexual Entertainment Venues  
 
Annex C:  Responses from Consultees 
 
 

 

 
1 THE ISSUE 
 
1.1 This report invites the Committee to consider and comment on: 

  
• the proposal to adopt Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous 

Provisions) Act 1982;  
• the written submissions and points raised by those involved in the 

consultation; 
• the content of the “sexual entertainment venue” policy  

2 RECOMMENDATION 
 
2.1 That the Committee gives due consideration to the consultation documents 

detailed at Annexes A, B and C, and if necessary, make recommendations for any 
amendments or additions.   The final decision on whether to adopt Schedule 3 of 
the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act is a matter for Full Council. 

 
3 FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
3.1   There will be additional resource implications in the administration and enforcement 

of this new provision.   In accordance with Schedule 3 para.19 the Council can 
charge a reasonable fee for the application process which must be proportionate to 
the cost of that provision so as to comply with the Provision of Services Regulations 
2009.  Such fees will be determined by the Divisional Director for Environmental 
Services in conjunction with the Cabinet Member for Service Delivery and will be on 
a cost neutral basis, and will cover all costs incurred by the Council. 

Agenda Item 9

Page 19



 
3.2 The costs of carrying out the recent consultation were borne out of existing 

resources. 
. 
4 THE REPORT 
 
4.1 Since the implementation of the Licensing Act 2003 there has been an increase 

nationally in the number of lap dancing clubs and similar venues, which has caused 
increasing concern for some local communities.   Currently the activity that takes 
place in lap dancing clubs is regulated under the Licensing Act and as such any 
representations that are made in respect of applications can only be considered if 
they are based on one or more of the four licensing objectives under the Licensing 
Act 2003 namely, prevention of crime and disorder, prevention of public nuisance, 
public safety and the protection of children from harm. 
 

4.2 As a consequence the Licensing Authority is unable to consider other concerns 
raised by local residents and businesses outside of the scope of the licensing 
objectives. Therefore matters such as whether the location of the proposed venue is 
appropriate cannot easily be taken into account.   Furthermore regulations under 
the Licensing Act place restrictions on which parties can make representations on 
applications and the council’s discretion to respond to such concerns as are validly 
made is also very constrained; 
 

4.3 The Government has responded to lobbying for greater regulatory control to be 
introduced specific to lap dancing clubs and similar premises by introducing 
legislation through the Policing and Crime Act 2009 which will have the effect of 
enabling regulation of these premises as ‘sexual entertainment venues’ under 
Schedule 3 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982. The 
legislation is adoptive – i.e. it only applies in an area if its local authority resolves 
that it should. 
 
The meaning of Sexual Entertainment Venue 
 

4.4 The Policing and Crime Act 2009 has added “sexual entertainment venues” as a 
new category of sex establishment. A “sexual entertainment venue” is defined as 
any premises at which “relevant entertainment” is provided before a live audience 
for the financial gain of the organiser or the entertainer. 
 

4.5 The meaning of ‘relevant entertainment’ is any live performance or live display of 
nudity which is of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must reasonably be 
assumed to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually stimulating 
any member of an audience (whether by verbal or other means).    An audience can 
consist of just one person (e.g. where the entertainment takes place in private 
booths). 
 

4.6 Whether or not the controls, where in force, apply in a given situation is clearly 
dependant upon the particular facts in each case. Performances of lap dancing, 
pole dancing, table dancing and striptease would typically be covered, as would 
other varieties of adult entertainment or services that meet the statutory criteria. 

 
 
 

Page 20



 
Premises that are not Sexual Entertainment Venues 

 
4.7 The revision not only sets out what is a sexual entertainment venue but also what is 

not. The following are not sexual entertainment venues: 
 

• sex shops and sex cinemas (which are separately defined in, and 
regulated under, Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act); 
 

• premises which provide relevant entertainment on an infrequent basis.   These 
are defined as premises where:- 

 
a) no relevant entertainment has been provided on more than 11occasions 

within a 12 month period; 
b) no such occasion has begun within a period of one month beginning with the 

end of the previous occasions; and 
c) no such occasion has lasted longer than 24 hours; or 

 
d) premises or types of performances or displays exempted by an order of the 

Secretary of State. 
 
4.8 Schedule 3 allows authorities to refuse applications on grounds related to an 

assessment of the “relevant locality”.    A licence can be refused if either, at the 
time the application is determined the number of sex establishments, or sex 
establishments of a particular kind, in the relevant locality is equal to or exceeds 
the number that the authority considers appropriate for that locality; or that a sex 
establishment would be inappropriate having regard to the character of the 
relevant locality, the use to which any premises in the vicinity are put or the layout, 
character or condition of the premises. Nil may be the appropriate number. 

 
Schedule 3 does not define “relevant locality” further than to say that:  
 

a) in relation to premises, it is the locality where they are situated; and  
b) in relation to a vehicle, vessel or stall, any locality where it is desired to use it 

as a sex establishment.  
 
The decision regarding what constitutes the ‘relevant locality’ is a matter for the 
authority.  

 
4.9 The Council has already adopted Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act for the 

licensing of sex shops and sex cinemas. 
 
4.10 A further resolution is necessary if the provisions introduced by Section 27of the 

2009 Act are to have effect in Bath and North East Somerset. 
 
4.11 As the Council had not resolved to adopt the amended provisions prior to 6 May 

2011, it was required to consult local people about whether such a resolution should 
be made.  The documents provided in Annexes A and B formed part of this 
consultation.  

 
4.12 In addition to the consultation on whether or not to adopt the new provisions the 

opportunity was also taken to consult on a proposed policy for the control of sexual 

Page 21



entertainment venues.   There is no requirement on a local authority to have a 
policy but it is recommended that if an authority considers that the legislation should 
be adopted, it should adopt a policy to: 

 
• Set out its approach, for the benefit of operators 
• Guide and re-assure the public and other public bodies 
• Ensure transparency 
• Ensure consistency 
• Guide its committees 

 
4.13 A copy of the proposed policy is provided at Annex B. 
 
5 RISK MANAGEMENT 
 
5.1 A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 

undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

 
6 EQUALITIES 
6.1 The equality groups were included within the consultation exercise and the 

consultation was carried out in accordance with the equalities requirements for 
consultations. 

6.2 The Policing and Crime Act included an equality impact assessment of the 
proposed legislation and found that no intended or disproportionate impact is 

 likely. 
7 HUMAN RIGHTS 
 In order to be compatible with the European Convention of Human Rights (the 

Convention) regard must be had to Convention rights in the decision making 
process.  Therefore, the Council must strike a fair balance between the competing 
interests of individuals and the community as a whole. 

8 CONSULTATION 
  
8.1 This report has not been sent to the Trades Union because they would have no 

involvement in this application. 
 
8.2 This report is being brought to the Licensing Committee following the release of 

Annex A and Annex B as part of a consultation exercise which drew to a close on 
31 October 2011.   A further report will be submitted to Full Council for their 
consideration in the New Year. 

 
9 ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 
9.1 Social Inclusion; Young People; Public Safety; Equalities and Human Rights. 
 
 

Page 22



 
10 ADVICE SOUGHT  
 
10.1 The Council's Monitoring Officer (Council Solicitor), Section 151 Officer, Divisional 

Director and Chair of the Licensing Committee has had opportunity to input to this 
report and have cleared it for publication. 

 
 

Contact person  Terrill Wolyn Senior Licensing Officer. 
Telephone (01225) 396939. 

Background papers Home Office Guidance for England & Wales – Sexual 
Entertainment Venues  

Page 23



ANNEX A 

CONSULTATION DOCUMENT 
 
Dear 
Bath & North East Somerset Council is consulting on whether to adopt new 
powers provided by the Policing and Crime Act 2009 to give local people 
greater say over the number and location of lap dancing clubs and similar 
venues in their area. 
If the new provisions are adopted, the Council will publish a policy setting out 
how it will exercise its powers.   
A draft policy has been prepared in order to facilitate discussion and a copy is 
available on the following webpage: 
http://www.bathnes.gov.uk/business/LicencesStreetTrading/Pages/SexualEnt
ertainmentVenues.aspx    
Alternatively, please contact us if you would like a hard copy of the draft 
policy. 
 We are seeking your views on 
 �  whether Bath & North East Somerset should adopt the new powers and, if 
so,  
 �  what our policy on Licensing Sexual Entertainment Venues should contain. 
If you wish to comment on these proposals, please contact us either in writing 
or by email.  If you are commenting on the draft policy, please state which 
paragraph you are referring to. 
  
The deadline for responses is 31 October 2011. 
  

 
Andrew Jones 
Environmental Monitoring and Licensing Manager 
Environmental Services 
Bath and North East Somerset Council 
9-10 Bath Street 
Bath 
BA1 1SN 

 

Page 24



ANNEX B 

BATH & NORTH EAST SOMERSET COUNCIL 
 

Sexual Entertainment Venues Policy 2011 
 
Introduction 
 
1. The Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 introduced 

a regime for the control of sex establishments.  These powers were 
adopted within Bath & North East Somerset, enabling the Council to 
control and regulate establishments such as sex shops and sex 
cinemas.   

 
2. The Policing and Crime Act 2009 amended Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act 

by introducing a new category of sex establishment: sexual 
entertainment venues.  This allows local authorities to regulate lap 
dancing clubs and similar venues in the same way as sex shops and 
sex cinemas.  These provisions were adopted by Bath & North East 
Somerset Council on [date of adoption]. 

 
3. Under the new regime, any person wishing to operate a sexual 

entertainment venue must obtain a licence from the Council.   
 
4. The Act sets out grounds on which the Council must refuse a licence, 

for example if an individual applicant is under the age of 18 years.  It 
also provides discretionary grounds on which the Council may refuse a 
licence if it is deemed appropriate to do so. 

 
5. The overarching objectives of this policy are to: 

 
(a) Promote the visions and values of Bath & North East Somerset 

Council 
 

(b) Protect the rights, health and safety of the general public, 
businesses, employees, minority and vulnerable groups 
 

(c) Ensure consistent and transparent decision making 
 
6. This policy will promote these objectives by providing guidance to: 
 

(a) The Council when determining applications made in connection 
with sexual entertainment venues 

 
(b) Operators making applications 

 
(c) Persons making objections in respect of an application 

 
7. The legislation may be viewed here: 
 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1982/30 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982 Chapter 30 

 

Page 25



ANNEX B 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2009/26/section/27 
Policing and Crime Act 2009 Part 2 Section 27 - Regulation of lap 
dancing and other sexual entertainment venues etc 

 
 
Scope of the Policy 
 
8. This policy applies to sexual entertainment venues as defined in the Act.  

Reference should be made to the legislation itself for the full definition 
and details of exemptions.  In summary a sexual entertainment venue 
is:  

 
9. A premises at which relevant entertainment is provided before a live 

audience for the financial gain of the organiser or entertainer, unless an 
exemption applies. 

 
(a) ‘Premises’ includes traditional premises as well as vehicles, 

vessels and stalls but not private dwellings to which the public are 
not admitted 

 
(b) ‘Relevant entertainment’ means a live performance or display of 

nudity of such a nature that, ignoring financial gain, it must 
reasonably be assumed to be provided solely or principally for the 
purposes of sexually stimulating any member of the audience 
whether by verbal or other means 

 
(c) ‘Provided’ means provided or permitted to be provided by or on 

behalf of the organiser 
 
(d) ‘Live audience’ includes an audience of one person 
 
(e) ‘Financial gain’ can be direct or indirect 

 
10. Under Schedule 3, the following premises are not to be considered as 

sexual entertainment venues: 
 
(a) Sex shops and/or sex cinemas 
 
(b) Premises that provide entertainment, that lasts no more than 24 

hours, on no more than 11 occasions within a 12 month period.  
There must be at least one month between each provision of 
entertainment 

 
11. Licensing of sex cinemas and sex shops is outside the scope of this 

policy, which is directed at the new aspect of the regime under which 
sexual entertainment venues are regulated. 

 
12. This policy is intended to be strictly applied however the Council will 

determine each application on its own merits after taking into account all 
relevant factors. 

 

Page 26



ANNEX B 

 
Decision making responsibility 
 
13. Functions under Schedule 3 are the responsibility of the full Council.  

Under Section 101 of the Local Government Act 1972, local authorities 
may arrange for the discharge of these responsibilities by a committee 
or sub-committee. 

 
14. The Council has delegated the function of determining sexual 

entertainment venue applications to the Licensing Committee or one of 
its sub-committees. 

 
 
Relationship with Licensing Act 2003 
 
15. Live or recorded music which is integral to the provision of relevant 

entertainment is specifically excluded from the definition of regulated 
entertainment under the Licensing Act 2003.  Therefore, a sexual 
entertainment venue will not require a premises licence or club premises 
certificate for these purposes.  A premises licence or club premises 
certificate will however be required should the venue wish to sell or 
supply alcohol, provide late night refreshment or regulated 
entertainment. 

 
16. When attaching conditions to a sexual entertainment venue licence for 

which a premises licence or club premises certificate is already in force, 
the Council will seek to avoid: 

 
(a) The duplication of existing conditions or legislation 
 
(b) The imposition of obligations which contradict existing conditions 

or legislation 
 
 
Applications 
 
17. Applications must be made in writing and must contain the particulars 

specified in Schedule 3 to the 1982 Act (see hyperlink above) and any 
such additional information the Council may require.  Applicants are 
advised to use the Council’s application form to ensure that all required 
details are provided in the first instance. 

 
18. An application must be accompanied by: 
 

(a) A scaled plan showing the layout of the premises, including –  
 

(b) The whole building, including non licensed areas 
 

(c) Any external or internal walls which comprise the premises, or in 
which the premises are comprised 
 

Page 27



ANNEX B 

(d) The parts of the premises to which the public have access 
 

(e) The parts of the premises in which relevant entertainment will take 
place 
 

(f) All means of entry and exit  
 

(g) If different from the above, the location of the escape routes from 
the premises 
 

(h) Fixed structures (including furniture) or similar objects temporarily 
in a fixed location (but not furniture) that may impact on the ability 
of customers to use exits or escape routes without impediment 
 

(i) In a case where premises include a stage or raised area, the 
location and height of each stage or area relative to the floor 

 
(j) The application fee as prescribed by the Council 

 
19. Notice of the application must be set out in the format specified by the 

Council in [Annex X] and: 
 

(a) published in a local newspaper within seven days after the date of 
the application, and 

 
(b) prominently displayed at or near the premises and in a place 

where it can conveniently be read by the public for 21 days 
beginning the day of the application 

 
20. In the case of a premises covering an area of more than 50 metres 

square, a further notice in the same form must be displayed every 50 
metres along any part of the external perimeter that abuts the highway. 

 
 
Waivers 
 
21. Applications can be made to waive the requirement for a sex 

establishment licence. 
 
22. The Council does not consider it would be appropriate to permit waivers 

from the requirements to hold a sexual entertainment venue licence, 
particularly as the legislation allows relevant entertainment on an 
infrequent basis as outlined in paragraph 10(b) above. 

 
 
Objections 
 
23. Any person may make an objection to the grant, renewal or transfer of a 

licence.  Objections must be made in writing no later than 28 days 
beginning the day after the application was made.  Objectors are 
advised to use the Council’s approved form.  There is no specific criteria 

Page 28



ANNEX B 

as to the content of an objection however less weight will be given to 
objections that are considered to be vexatious, malicious or frivolous.   

 
24. The Council will not reveal the name or address of any objector without 

first obtaining his/her permission to do so. 
 
25. If one or more objections are received against an application, the 

Council will give notice of the objection(s) to the applicant.  The matter 
will then proceed to a hearing to be determined by the Licensing 
Committee or Licensing Sub-Committee. 

 
 
Determining an application 
 
26. If no objections are received to an application, authority is delegated to 

the Council’s Licensing Officer to grant the application. 
 
27. If any objection is made to an application, the matter will be determined 

at a hearing of the Council’s Licensing Committee or Licensing Sub-
Committee. 

 
28. The Council will permit objectors to address the Committee or Sub-

Committee in respect of the matters raised in their written objection (but 
no other matter). 

 
29. The Committee will determine the matter and give reasons for their 

decision. 
 
30. In the event that the Committee refuses an application, the applicant 

may appeal the decision in the magistrates’ court, unless the application 
was refused on the grounds set out in paragraph 35(c) or (d), in which 
case the applicant can only challenge the refusal by way of judicial 
review. 

 
31. Any other interested party can challenge a decision of the Committee by 

way of judicial review. 
 
 
Conditions 
 
32. Every Sexual Entertainment Venue Licence granted, renewed or 

transferred by the Council shall be presumed to have been so granted, 
renewed or transferred subject to the Council’s standard conditions 
(attached) unless they have been expressly excluded or varied by the 
Council. 

 
 
Mandatory grounds for refusal 
 
33. A licence will not be granted to: 
 

Page 29



ANNEX B 

(a) A person under the age of 18 
 
(b) A person who is for the time being disqualified by virtue of 

revocation in the previous year 
 
(c) An individual applicant who has not been resident in the UK for the 

previous six months 
 
(d) A body corporate which is not incorporated in an EEA state 
 
(e) A person who has, within a period of 12 months immediately 

preceding the date of application, been refused the grant or 
renewal of a licence for the premises in respect of which the 
application is made unless the refusal was reversed on appeal 

 
34. Where any of these grounds apply, the Council must refuse the 

application. 
 
 
Discretionary grounds for refusal 
 
35. A licence may be refused on one or more of the following grounds: 
 

(a) That the applicant is unsuitable to hold the licence by reason of 
having been convicted of an offence or any other reason 

 
(b) That if the licence were to be granted, renewed or transferred the 

business to which it relates would be managed by or carried on for 
the benefit of a person, other than the applicant, who would be 
refused the grant, renewal or transfer of such a licence if he made 
the application himself 

 
(c) That the number of sex establishments, or of sex establishments 

of a particular kind, in the relevant locality at the time the 
application is determined is equal to or exceeds the number which 
the authority consider is appropriate for that locality (nil may be an 
appropriate number for these purposes) 

 
(d) That the grant or renewal of the licence would be inappropriate, 

having regard to –  
 

(i) The character of the relevant locality 
 

(ii) The use to which any premises in the vicinity are put 
 

(iii) The layout, character or condition of the premises in respect 
of which the application is made 

 
36. Where the Council finds that any of these grounds apply, it may refuse 

the application. 
 

Page 30



ANNEX B 

 
Factors for consideration – discretionary grounds (a) and (b) 
 
37. In considering the suitability of those persons referred to in (a) and (b), 

the Council will take into account all relevant factors including: 
 

(a) Relevant experience 
 
(b) Relevant criminal convictions 
 
(c) Relevant observations or findings by public authorities, including 

licensing authorities, in connection with the conduct of the person 
or their ability to manage and control premises 

 
(d) Relevant findings by courts and tribunals in connection with the 

treatment of protected groups (within the meaning of the Equalities 
Act 2010) 
 

(e) Information germane to the person’s ability to, among other things: 
 

(i) Ensure the safety and wellbeing of performers 
 

(ii) Ensure the proper protection of the public 
 

(iii) Ensure the suitability of employees, performers and others 
using the venue 

 
(iv) Prevent performance by or for those who may thereby be 

harmed, including minors 
 

(v) Understand and adhere to conditions imposed on any licence 
granted and ensure they are observed by others on the 
premises 

 
(vi) Engage constructively with the Council and other relevant 

regulators 
 
 
Factors for consideration – discretionary ground (c) 
 
38. The Council has the power to determine an appropriate maximum 

number of sex establishments, including sexual entertainment venues, 
in the relevant locality at the time the application is determined. 

   
39. The Council will not seek to predetermine the localities that comprise 

Bath & North East Somerset or predetermine the appropriate number for 
each such locality.  Instead, the issue will be considered on a case by 
case basis and the relevant locality will be determined as a matter of 
fact in each particular application.  

 
 

Page 31



ANNEX B 

40. Having established the relevant locality, in considering the issue in 
ground (c) the Council will take into account all relevant factors 
including: 

 
(a) The character of the locality, e.g. residential, leisure 

 
(b) Other uses in the locality, e.g. places of worship, educational 

establishments 
 

(c) Impact on regeneration 
 
(d) Impact on tourism 
 
(e) Impact on retail attraction 
 
(f) Risk of public nuisance 
 
(g) Whether the locality is subject of stress caused by a cumulative 

impact of premises authorised to provide licensable activities 
under the Licensing Act 2003 

 
(h) Existing levels of recorded crime 
 
(i) Impact on crime and disorder 
 
(j) Levels of anti social behaviour  
 
(k) Existence of social problems in the locality and impact on any 

initiatives to tackle them 
 
41. A dedicated appendix will be maintained with this policy to record all 

decisions made to control the number of sex establishments under this 
provision. 

 
 
Factors for consideration – discretionary ground (d) 
 
42. Having regard to the character of the locality (see ground (c) above) the 

Council will consider whether the particular application is appropriate.  
The Council will take into account all relevant factors including: 

 
(a) The size and appearance of the premises 
 
(b) Their proximity to places where the public congregate for purposes 

other than use of the premises, such as bus stops and taxi ranks 
 
(c) The nature and style of the relevant entertainment that is proposed 
 
(d) The nature of the clientele it is likely to attract and their number 
 

Page 32



ANNEX B 

(e) The manner in which the relevant entertainment is likely to be 
managed 

 
(f) The risk of public nuisance 
 
(g) The proposed hours of operation 
 
(h) The proposed hours for provision of relevant entertainment 

 
 
Factors specific to discretionary ground (d)(ii) 
 
43. Whether premises in the vicinity are put to any of the following uses: 
 

(a) Residential, in particular homes occupied by families 
 
(b) Leisure 
 
(c) Educational establishments 
 
(d) Places of worship 
 
(e) Family friendly facilities 
 
(f) Other sex-oriented/adult premises 
 
(g) Youth clubs 
 
(h) Women’s refuges 
 
(i) Community centres 
 
(j) Parks and other open spaces 
 
(k) Public transport 
 

 
Factors specific to discretionary ground (d)(iii) 
 
44. In considering these factors the Council will take into account 

information concerning: 
 

(a) Whether the premises are fit for the purpose proposed 
 
(b) Their planning status 
 
(c) The general appearance to others using the locality 
 
(d) Whether premises are self contained 
 

Page 33



ANNEX B 

(e) Means of access and egress, whether shared with other building 
users (if any) 

 
(f) Accessibility 
 
(g) ‘Hidden’ areas and other places where effective monitoring may be 

hampered 
 
(h) Standard of decoration and ‘fit-out’ 
 
(i) Visibility/audibility from the street 
 
(j) Facilities for smokers 
 
(k) Facilities for performers (e.g. changing and bathroom facilities, 

smoking areas etc) and whether they are adequately separated 
from those provided for customers 

 
 
Transitional provisions 
 
45. There are three appointed days under the transitional provisions.  These 

are called the first appointed day, the second appointed day and the 
third appointed day. 

 
(a) The first appointed day in Bath & North East Somerset is [date] 
 
(b) The second appointed day is [date – six months after first 

appointed day] 
 
(c) The third appointed day is [date – six months after second 

appointed day] 
 
46. There are some ‘grandfather rights’ that apply to the following: 
 

(a) Those with a licence for relevant entertainment under the 
Licensing Act 2003 who are using the premises as a sexual 
entertainment venue under that licence 

 
(b) Those with a licence for relevant entertainment under the 

Licensing Act 2003 who are undertaking preparatory work to use 
the premises as a sexual entertainment venue under that licence 

 
47. Both category of operator may continue to use their premises as a 

sexual entertainment venue until at least the third appointed day, or, if 
they have made an application before third appointed day, until the 
determination of that application or the conclusion of any appeal against 
a refusal of it.  In other words, these two groups can continue to trade 
for at least one year following the first appointed day even if no licence 
or waiver has been granted to them. 

 

Page 34



ANNEX B 

48. There are three rounds of applications in the transitional order. 
 

(a) Round 1 – [first appointed day] until [second appointed day] 
 

(i) All Round 1 applications must be considered before any of 
them can be determined.  In practice, therefore, the first time 
the Council is permitted to determine applications will be [six 
months plus one day from the first appointed day] 

 
(ii) Applications will be considered on their individual merit and 

not on a first come first served basis 
 

(iii) When they are determined, any licences granted to 
applicants with “grandfather rights” will not take effect until 
the third appointed day.  Any others that are granted will take 
effect straightaway 

 
(b) Round 2 – [second appointed day] until [third appointed day] 

 
(i) It is important to note that none of these applications may be 

determined until all of the Round 1 applications have been 
determined.  As with the Round 1 applications, licences 
granted to applicants with “grandfather rights” whose 
applications are granted before the third appointed day will 
not take effect until the third appointed day; any others that 
are granted will take effect straightaway 

 
(c) Round 3 – [third appointed day] onwards 

 
(i) Any applications made after the third appointed day may not 

be determined until such time as all of the Round 1 
applications (if any) have been dealt with.  

 

Page 35



ANNEX B 

 
Sexual Entertainment Venues 

 
Standard Conditions 

 
In these conditions: 
 
(a) “Customer” means any person visiting the premises other than 

employees or performers, whether or not they have paid for or intend to 
pay for services provided. 

 
(b) “Employee” means any person working at the venue whether under a 

contract of employment or some other contract. 
 
(c) “Nudity” means when breasts and/or genitals and/or anus are fully or 

partially uncovered. 
 
(d) “Other contact of a sexual nature” means contact which must reasonably 

be assumed to be provided solely or principally for the purpose of 
sexually stimulating the customer. 

 
(e) “Relevant offence” means: 
 

(i) An offence under Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) 
Act 1982 Schedule 3 

 
(ii) A sexual offence, being an offence listed in Part 2 of Schedule 15 

to the Criminal Justice Act 2003, other than the offence mentioned 
in paragraph 95 (an offence under section 4 of the Sexual Offences 
Act 1967 (procuring others to commit homosexual acts)) 

 
 
General Conditions 
 
1. Only relevant entertainment is authorised under this licence. 
 
2. No person under the age of 18 shall be admitted to the premises and a 

notice to this effect shall be displayed on the outside of the premises. 
 
3. The premises shall operate a Challenge 21 Policy and persons 

appearing to be under the age of 21 shall be required to provide proof of 
age. 

 
4. A copy of the licence and attached conditions shall be prominently 

displayed in the premises. 
 
5. The availability of relevant entertainment shall not be marketed or 

advertised in any of the following ways: 
 

(a) By means of personal solicitation in the locality of the licensed 
premises 

Page 36



ANNEX B 

 
(b) By means of leafleting in the locality 

 
 
Management of the Premises 
 
6. The Council shall be notified within seven days of any changes in 

respect of: 
 

(a) The name of the person who will be primarily responsible for the 
management of the premises when relevant entertainment is 
taking place (the manager) 

 
(b) The name of any persons who will be responsible for the day to 

day management of the premises when relevant entertainment is 
taking place in the absence of the manager (deputy manager(s)) 

 
7. At least one of the individuals specified on the licence (i.e. a licensee, 

manager or deputy manager) shall be present on the premises at all 
times whilst the relevant entertainment is taking place. 

 
8. No person shall be employed or shall perform at the premises who has 

unspent convictions for any relevant offence. 
 
9. The Council shall be provided with a code of conduct for performers and 

a code of conduct for members of the audience. 
 
10. The Performers’ Code of Conduct shall be brought to the attention of all 

performers and reasonable measures shall be taken to ensure that it is 
complied with. 

 
11. Performers shall be required to sign a register confirming that they have 

read and understand the Performers’ Code of Conduct.  The register 
shall be retained on the premises and made available for inspection by 
any police officer or authorised officer of the Council. 

 
12. The Customers’ Code of Conduct shall be brought to the attention of all 

members of the audience and reasonable measures shall be taken to 
ensure that it is complied with. 

 
13. The licence holder must maintain an log of any person(s) refused entry 

to the premises and any person(s) ejected from the premises together 
with the reasons for the refusal/ejection.  This log must be kept on the 
premises at all times and made available for inspection by any police 
officer or authorised officer of the Council. 

 
 
The premises 
 
14. Relevant entertainment may only take place on those parts of the  

premises as are identified on the plan annexed to the licence. 

Page 37



ANNEX B 

 
15. Relevant entertainment shall not occur in private rooms, cubicles or 

other enclosed areas.  For these purposes a room, cubicle or other area 
is private unless it is completely open on one side so that activities 
within may be supervised from the exterior. 

 
16. There shall be no display outside of the licensed premises of images 

which indicate or suggest that relevant entertainment is provided upon 
the premises, with the exception of any registered trade mark, trading 
name or trading symbol that has been notified to and agreed by the 
Council. 

 
17. No relevant entertainment provided shall be visible from the street or 

from any other external area to which the public have access. 
 
18. The premises shall be fitted with an inner entrance door or screen so 

that no part of the interior of the premises or any of the contents of the 
premises shall be visible when persons are entering or leaving the 
premises. 

 
19. The licence holder shall ensure that no staff or other persons engaged 

on their behalf remain in any area of the premises which can be viewed 
from outside the premises, or from any other area outside the premises, 
for the purpose of encouraging potential customers into the premises. 

 
20. Colour CCTV will be installed and maintained in good working order on 

the premises.  The positioning of such cameras will be agreed with the 
licensing authority and the police.   

 
21. CCTV recorded material should be kept secure for a period of 31 days 

and disclosed to any police officer or authorised officer of the Council 
upon request. 

 
22. Except in accordance with the requirements for CCTV as described in 

conditions 20 and 21, no photographs, films or video recordings shall be 
taken of the performances.  Nor shall electronic transmissions of a 
performance be shown outside of the premises (except for the purpose 
of remote management of the premises and in those circumstances, the 
licensee shall ensure that only those involved in management shall view 
any photograph, film or recording). 

 
23. Notices shall be displayed informing customers of the presence of 

CCTV. 
 
The provision of relevant entertainment 
 
24. During any performance of relevant entertainment there must be no 

physical contact between the performer and any member of the viewing 
public, except for the placing of money/tokens into an item of clothing 
worn by a performer or into the performer’s hand before or at the end of 

Page 38



ANNEX B 

the performance.  A brief handshake before or at the end of a 
performance is permitted. 

 
25. There shall be no penetration of a performer’s genitals or anus by any 

means. 
 
26. Performers shall not engage in masturbation and/or oral sex. 
 
27. At no time except during the performance may there be a display of 

nudity. 
 
28. No performer or employee may at any time (and whether or not 

performing): 
 

(a) Sit or lie on the lap or any other part of any customer 
 
(b) Kiss, stroke, fondle, caress or embrace any customer 
 
(c) Engage in any other contact of a sexual nature with any customer 

 
 
Protection of those engaged in the provision of relevant entertainment 
 
29. Literature and contact details of organisations that provide advice and 

counselling on matters relating to: 
 

(a) Sexual problems 
 
(b) Family planning 
 
(c) Sexually transmitted diseases 
 
(d) Rape and sexual assault 
 
shall be made available to performers free of charge. 

 
30. No telephone number, residential address, email address or other 

information that may facilitate further contact between performers and 
customers is passed from customer to performer, or vice versa. 

 
31. No relevant entertainment shall be provided by any performer unless 

sufficient checks have been made of documents evidencing the 
performer’s age, identity and right to work in the United Kingdom. 

 
32. Copies of all documents referred to in condition 31 shall be retained for 

not less than 12 months after the last provision of relevant entertainment 
by the said performer and shall be produced to any police officer or 
authorised officer of the Council. 

 
33. A ‘signing-in’ register shall be kept at the premises that records the date, 

start time and finish time of all person(s) involved in the relevant 

Page 39



ANNEX B 

entertainment at the premises.  This shall be retained for a period of 12 
months and made available for immediate inspection by any police 
officer or authorised officer of the Council. 

 
34. An appropriate room shall be available as a change and rest area for 

performers.  Access to this room shall be restricted to performers and 
employees only whilst the performers are on the premises.   

 
35. Performers shall not be permitted to share bathroom facilities and/or any 

smoking area with members of the audience and suitable separate 
provision must be made. 
 
 

Page 40



ANNEX C 

Sexual Entertainment Venues Policy – Consultation Responses 2011 
 

Consultee Consultation Response Officer Comments 

1.  Lin Roper – The 
Ayrlington Hotel 

I am not in favour of lap dancing clubs and similar venues 
in this city.  Bath is a World Heritage City with tourism 
being its main industry.  Many visitors would be deterred 
from coming here should such places be advertised 
together with the cultural sites.  
 
Additionally, there are a number of excellent independent 
schools which accept boarders plus the universities and 
these establishments could be of major concern to 
parents considering sending their children to our city.  
Bristol is a short distance from Bath and would be a more 
suitable location for such clubs.   

There are no plans to encourage adult entertainment 
venues into the area; the policy simply strengthens the 
Council’s power to regulate them.  The policy is designed 
to enable local residents to make representations against 
an application on a wider range of grounds than is 
currently available.  No further action necessary. 

2.  Ralph Oswick – 
Natural Theatre 
Company 
 

I have read the proposals and they seem very thorough 
and sensible. 
 
I wondered about establishments that present so-called 
Burlesque shows which blur the line between blatantly 
sexual content and mildly titillating irony...or so they 
claim. But if licences are to be granted on a case by case 
basis then it would be up to the proprietors to put their 
case. 

Applications will be determined in a case by case basis 
with reference to the legislation and guidance, particularly 
the definition of ‘sexual entertainment’ which is deemed 
to be entertainment “of such a nature that, ignoring 
financial gain, it must reasonably be assumed to be 
provided solely or principally for the purpose of sexually 
stimulating any member of the audience”.  No further 
action necessary. 

P
age 41



ANNEX C 

3.  Jane Read – 
Greenvale Drive 
 

I am strongly against all Sexual Entertainment Venues, 
and wanted to voice my concerns, having heard that Bath 
Council may agree to a license. I am a resident of Bath 
and feel this would be completely wrong for the city. 
 

There are no plans to encourage adult entertainment 
venues into the area; the policy simply strengthens the 
Council’s power to regulate them.  The policy is designed 
to enable local residents to make representations against 
an application on a wider range of grounds than is 
currently available.  No further action necessary. 
 

4.  Julian Tee -  Chief 
Executive, Compass 
Hotels (owners of the 
Abbey Hotel on North 
Parade) 

I wish to support the Council’s proposal to adopt the new 
powers set out in the Sexual Entertainment Venues 
Policy 2011. 
 
Whilst I find it disappointing to believe that a world 
heritage site such as Bath should have its city sullied by 
such establishments, there is doubtless an business and 
economic case to be made in favour of sexual 
entertainment venues.  
 
However, as long standing owners and operators of the 
Abbey Hotel, already financially suffering from the impact 
of late night street noise from passers-by singing, 
swearing and causing a general verbal nuisance 
throughout the year, I would stress the importance of the 
following points as set out in your document. 
 
Paragraph 14:  Although it is proposed that the 
determination of licensing of venues can be delegated to 
the licensing committee or one of its sub committees, I 
would hope that an appropriately senior person within the 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
It is proposed that the Licensing Committee delegates 
authority to the Licensing Sub Committee to determine 
applications.  This is the procedure as agreed by the 
Licensing Committee.  There is a process for those 

P
age 42



ANNEX C 

Authority will have the ultimate say in such 
determinations and thus the decision making process will 
be properly followed and policed to ensure consistency of 
process and application of standards. I would prefer to 
see that determination of applications for such 
establishments should not be delegated below the actual 
licensing committee so as to recognize the importance of 
such determinations given the nature of these 
establishments and the impact their activities can have on 
vulnerable groups within the community. 
 
Paragraph 35(d)(ii):  Late night access and egress from 
establishments in the city already causes disturbance and 
distress for hotel operators and residents. We have 
suffered financial loss for years as late night revelers 
pass the hotel shouting, singing, swearing and causing a 
general verbal nuisance. Therefore, specifically related to 
places of overnight accommodation where the customer 
has a right to enjoy peaceful accommodations, I would 
stress that, at the point of application, the citing of any 
such venues and the operating times of these venues 
should be closely scrutinized to avoid further 
congregation of peoples late at night and further swelling 
of numbers leaving all licensed premises. Ideally, any 
such venue will be located on the outskirts of the city, 
away from residential areas. 
 
40 (d) and (f) These two points link closely with my 
comments made in respect of 35 (d) (ii). In addition, the 

aggrieved by the decision of the Sub Committee to have 
those decisions reviewed. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Alcohol sales would still require a premises licence and 
the licence holder would be subject to the same 
application process and licence conditions as any other 
licensed premises.  Where a premises is situated in the 
Cumulative Impact Area, the applicant would have to 
rebut the presumption that a licence should not be 
granted.   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Use of the premises is also governed by the planning 
regime but paras 40 allows applications to be determined 

P
age 43



ANNEX C 

city is renowned for and relies heavily on tourism from all 
over the world. When considering applications for such 
establishments, the Authority should consider alternative 
use of premises and whether they could be put to better 
use in the development of the city for purposes which 
support tourism or other ventures. (ie) Do such 
establishments add value to the city and to the world 
heritage status of the city? 
 
Finally, I see no specific mention of the need for door 
staff (men and women) to oversee admissions and 
conduct within such premises. This may be covered by 
the Licensing Act 2003 and any revisions made thereto.  I 
believe there should be a requirement to provide door 
staff, of a suitable number to the size and scope of the 
any establishment, and so ensure conduct is fitting on 
entry, inside and on exiting the premises. 

having regard to issues such as impact on tourism, 
potential for public nuisance etc. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Recommendation – Amend the standard conditions to 
include a requirement that there are 2 SIA registered 
door-staff on the premises at all times it is open to the 
public. P

age 44



ANNEX C 

5.  Caroline Kay  - Bath 
Preservation Trust 
 

We would like to see more explicit reference in the policy 
(not just the ‘planning status’) made to the need for 
applicants for licenses to comply in addition with all 
relevant planning policies, and apply for any consents 
(planning, listed building, conservation area) required in 
relation to the premises, such consents being in place 
before the granting of a license. We would also like to see 
reference to this made in the ‘standard conditions’ section 
relating to the premises, and would like to see paragraph 
16 expanded to state that ‘any display must comply with 
local planning and conservation area policies in force’. 
 
In the ‘discretionary grounds’, we would like to see 
reference to tourism, particularly heritage tourism and the 
amenity value of the conservation area. 

The policy sets out the framework that the Council will 
use when determining licence applications for SEVs; 
although planning issues maybe a factor for consideration 
by the Licensing Sub Committee, the SEV licensing 
regime cannot be used to duplicate other regulatory 
regimes. 
 
Recommendation – Change the heading to paragraph 15 
to ‘Relationship with other statutory regimes’.   
 
 
 
The discretionary grounds are set out in the amended 
schedule so we cannot add to them.   Heritage tourism 
would however be considered within ground d (i) and (ii). 

6.  Tim Conroy - St 
Philip & St James 
Church Office 

Regarding paragraph 19, there needs to be letters sent 
to houses and premises local to the proposed venue - 
maybe all those within 50 metres.  I don't think it is 
sufficient to just put a notice in the newspaper (which only 
a small proportion of the public read) and notices on 
lampposts (again not noticed by many).  It's very 
important that the local community are suitably informed. 
  
 
 
 
 
A general point is that from my experience of visiting 

The relevant provisions in relation to advertising are 
contained in paragraph 10 of schedule 3 to the Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act which the 
Council must and will comply with. In so doing the 
Council will ensure this process is consistent with all of its 
other licensing functions.   
It is reasonable to expect that in compliance with the will 
of Parliament through newspaper notices and notices at, 
on or near the proposed premises, such applications will 
be brought to the attention of the community.   
 
No further action necessary. 

P
age 45



ANNEX C 

Blackpool which has many such venues, these places 
downgrade the local environment and would taint the 
uplifting atmosphere that Bath inspires through its 
architecture.  Unlike sports facilities, shops, and 
museums these venues do not provide anything positive 
to the people of the city but rather exploit people who are 
vulnerable.  They should be licensed with extreme 
caution. 

7.  Rev Stephen M’Caw 
– Team Rector, 
Keynsham Parish 

We would welcome the enhanced ability of the Council to 
regulate lap dancing venues, strip clubs and such like as 
a consequence of adopting the new policy. 
  
The enhanced ability for example in paragraph 40 
 
"Having established the relevant locality, in considering 
the issue in ground the Council will take into account all 
relevant factors including: 
(a) The character of the locality, e.g. residential, leisure 
(b) Other uses in the locality, e.g. places of worship, 
educational establishments." 

No further action necessary. 

P
age 46



ANNEX C 

8.  Robin Kerr – 
Secretary, Federation of 
Bath Residents’ 
Associations  

FoBRA recently discussed this proposal in Committee.  
The general opinion (confined to the city, of course) was 
that there was no tradition of this kind of entertainment in 
Bath, unlike gambling, so, while most would prefer that it 
did not start, members felt that the powers should be 
taken up so that a tight regime existed.   
 
A preference that these clubs not be established in 
residential areas was stated, observing that they could be 
conspicuous, unlike casinos, and this would be likely to 
clash with Bath’s historic townscape.  Rigid adherence to 
relevant planning conditions should be a prerequisite, 
therefore.  Lastly, FoBRA thought it desirable that the 
process of licensing and its enforcement should be made 
self-financing. 
 

The residential nature of an area can be taken into 
consideration when determining applications 
(discretionary grounds (c) and (d)), particularly where a 
large proportion of residences are occupied by families 
with children.   
 
 
The policy sets out the framework that the Council will 
use when determining licence applications for SEVs; 
although planning issues maybe a factor for consideration 
by the Licensing Sub Committee, the SEV licensing 
regime cannot be used to duplicate other regulatory 
regimes. 
 
The application fee for a Sexual Entertainment Venue 
licence will be set at such a level as to cover the costs of 
the licensing and monitoring of such venues. 
 
 

9.  Martin Purchase – 
Liquor Licensing 
Officer, Avon and 
Somerset Police 

The consultation re this policy is the requirement prior to 
the adoption of this area of the legislation. It is both 
necessary and desirable that BANES has such a policy 
and has adopted the legislation. It provides a whole raft of 
measures/conditions and grounds for objection that are, 
difficult without this approach.  
 
I did some lobbying to persuade the council to adopt this 
legislation as it provides safe-guards, and without it the 

No further action necessary. 

P
age 47



ANNEX C 

method of regulating and objecting is very blurred. The 
objection process is much the same as with liquor, ie 
make representations and have a hearing. I enquired of 
Bristol, they have the policy (which is almost word for 
word the same as BANES) it appears on their website.  
 
The police have not used it as far as I can ascertain, but 
this could be due to the fact that Bristol has had this type 
of venue for some time, and was fairly well regulated and 
suitable conditions placed on them prior to this legislation. 
The problems they have encountered seem to have 
revolved around the use of illegal immigrant girls in the 
main. 

10.  Inspector Steven 
Mildren, Avon and 
Somerset Police 

It would be a good idea for the LA to adopt these powers. 
It will give them, and us, greater ability to put control 
measures in place as the need arises. There are currently 
no such premises in Bath, and I am not aware of any 
plans in the near future for such premises.  
 
Interestingly, back last year two ladies came to Bath with 
an intention to set up a business whereby they would 
arrange sexual entertainment in a number of different 
venues. 
 
This would not be covered by the legislation, and in fact 
any of our licensed premises can have this sort of 
entertainment up to 12 times a year without having to 
comply with the legislation if it were in force. They were 

No further action necessary. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
No more than 11 occasions within a 12 month period.  

P
age 48



ANNEX C 

given some appropriate advice and decided that Bath 
was not the place for them to try to promote this type of 
business. 

11.  Dominique Russell 
– Town Clerk, Radstock 
Town Council 

The Council met last night and considered your 
consultation letter on Sexual Entertainment Venues.  The 
Council supports Bath and North East Somerset Council 
in adopting the new powers. 

No further action necessary. 

12.  Mrs I Leet, Honorary 
Secretary, Bath Central 
United Reform Church 

Further to your letter regarding the above issue [sexual 
entertainment venues].  I have put this to our Elders’ 
meeting and they agree that the Council should adopt the 
new powers provided by the Policing and Crime Act 
2009.  I have also read the policy and this seems to be a 
very comprehensive and a sensitive approach. 

No further action necessary. 

13.  Mr Ian Perkins 
chairman of TARA – The 
Abbey Residents’ 
Association 

TARA is broadly supportive of the principles articulated in 
the draft strategy. There is broad agreement that these 
sorts of premises should not be sited close to residential 
properties and that decisions should be made on a case 
by case basis rather than on the basis of zoning. 
 
TARA thought it important to look at the wider impact of 
such establishments and the mix of entertainment 
provided in a particular area.  For example the centre of 
Bath attracts lots of hen nights currently but few stag 
nights. Looking at the web sites of companies who sell 

The residential nature of an area can be taken into 
consideration when determining applications and each 
application would be determined on a case by case basis. 
No further action necessary. 

P
age 49



ANNEX C 

hen and stag night packages the reason for this seems to 
be the lack of sexual entertainment venues in Bath. So 
the provision of such venues in close proximity to Bath’s 
vertical drinking venues would have the potential to 
create a very considerable negative impact on the 
environment of the city centre. 
 
 

14.  Mr G Hudd, on 
behalf of the Trustees of 
Beechen Cliff Methodist 
Church 

In principle I consider BANES should adopt the new 
powers provided by the Policing & Crime Act 2009. I am 
content to leave to BANES Council the contents of its 
policy in this regard, expecting that they will include prior 
consultation with local people. 
 

No further action necessary. 

 

P
age 50



Licensing Act 2003 Committee  
  

Hearing Procedure - Contested Applications  
 

1. The Chair will introduce the Committee, introduce Officers present, 
explain the procedure to be followed and ensure those present 
understand that procedure. 

 
2. The Licensing Officer will outline the nature of the matter to be 

considered by the Committee. 
 

3. The Applicant and or their representative address the Committee and 
may call witnesses. 

 
4. The Committee may ask the Applicant and/or their witnesses 

questions. 
 

5. The Respondent and/or their representative addresses the 
Committee and may call witnesses. 

 
6. The Committee may ask the Respondent and/or their witnesses 

questions. 
 
7. The Respondent will be invited to summarise the application, respond 

to any points raised during the hearing and make a closing statement.  
 

8. The Applicant will be invited to summarise the application, respond to 
any points raised during the hearing and make a closing statement. 

 
9. The Committee will ask the parties and any witnesses to leave the 

Committee room whilst the Committee consider their decision. The 
Committee will however be accompanied for advice only by the Legal 
Advisor and Committee Administrator. The Committee may 
reconvene the meeting at any time to resolve points of uncertainty on 
matters already raised. 
 

10. The Committee will invite the parties and their witnesses to return to 
the meeting room whereupon the Chair may announce the 
Committee’s decision with reasons and advise that the decision will 
be released in writing in due course, or advise that the Committee’s 
decision with reasons will be released within five working days of the 
hearing. 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Agenda Item 10

Page 51



PLEASE NOTE: 
 
• Where the Committee considers it necessary the procedure may be 

varied. 
 
• In circumstances where any party fails to attend the Committee will 

consider whether to proceed in that party’s absence or defer to the next 
meeting on notice to all parties that the matter may proceed in a party’s 
absence. In deciding whether to proceed all notices and 
representations will be considered. 

 
• Only in exceptional circumstances will the Committee take account 

of late documents, information or applications from a party which will 
be at the discretion of the Committee.  No new representations will be 
allowed at the hearing. 

 
• The Committee will disregard any information or representation 

presented by a party which is considered irrelevant. 
 
• The hearing will take the form of a discussion and there will be no 

opportunity for Applicants to question or cross examine each other.  
 
• If any person has special needs regarding access, hearing or vision, 

this should be brought to the Licensing Authority’s attention prior to the 
hearing in order that reasonable adjustments can be made.  

 
• Parties will be allowed an equal maximum period of time to make 

representations. Although time limits will be at the discretion of the 
Chair, in the interests of costs and efficiency, this will not normally 
exceed thirty minutes to include presenting and summarising the 
Application. The time limit will not include the time taken for questions.  

 
N.B. 

 
• The Chair may require any person attending the hearing who is 

behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and refuse to 
allow that person to return, or only allow them to return subject to 
certain conditions.  Any person so excluded will however be entitled to 
submit to the Committee any information which they would have been 
entitled to give orally had they not been required to leave. 

 
• Bath & North East Somerset Council is committed to taking decisions 

in an honest, accountable and transparent fashion, but on occasion 
may find it necessary to exclude members of the press and public 
based upon the legal framework given in the Local Government Act 
1972 Schedule 12 (a).  On these occasions reasons for decisions 
based on the above framework will be given.  

 
S:\DEMOCRATIC SERVICES\WORDDOCS\REGULATORY AND CTTEES.DOC 

Page 52



LICENSING ACT 2003 COMMITTEE PROCEDURE CONTESTED 
APPLICATIONS 

HEARINGS

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
S:\DEMOCRATIC SERVICES\WORDDOCS\REGULATORY AND 
CTTEES\LICTAX\PERM\PROCEDURECHARTPROPRIETORS.DOC 

Confirm parties have received and understood the procedure 

Licensing Officer introduces the report 

The Chair asks all parties to leave the room while a 
decision is reached. 

 
The parties and witnesses are invited to return to the 
meeting room whereupon the Chair may announce the 
Committee’s decision with reasons and advise that the 
decision will be released in writing in due course or 
advise that the Committee’s decision with reasons will 
be released within five working days of the hearing 
 

The Applicant will be invited to summarise the 
application, respond to any points raised during the 
hearing and make a closing statement 

The Respondent will be invited to summarise the 
application, respond to any points raised during the 
hearing and make a closing statement  

 

The Committee may ask the Respondent and or their 
witnesses questions. 

 

The Respondent and/or their representative address the 
Committee and may call witnesses. 

The Committee may ask the Applicant and/or their 
witnesses questions. 

The Applicant and/or their representative address the 
Committee and may call witnesses. 

If a party is not present the Committee will decide whether to 
proceed or defer on notice to all parties that the matter may 

proceed in absence on the next occasion. 

Introductions by Chair.  

Page 53



Page 54

This page is intentionally left blank



Licensing Act 2003 Committee  
  

Hearing Procedure – Non – Contested Applications  
 

1. The Chair will introduce the Committee, introduce Officers present, 
explain the procedure to be followed and ensure those present 
understand that procedure. 

 
2. The Licensing Officer will outline the nature of the matter to be 

considered by the Committee. 
 

3. The Applicant and or their representative address the Committee and 
may call witnesses. 

 
4. The Committee may ask the Applicant and or their witnesses 

questions. 
 
5. The Applicant will be invited to summarise the application, respond to 

any points raised during the hearing and make a closing statement 
 

6. The Committee will ask the parties and any witnesses to leave the 
Committee room whilst the Committee consider their decision. The 
Committee will however be accompanied for advice only by the Legal 
Advisor and Committee Administrator. The Committee may 
reconvene the meeting at any time to resolve points of uncertainty on 
matters already raised. 
 

7. The Committee will invite the parties and their witnesses to return to 
the meeting room whereupon the Chair may announce the 
Committee’s decision with reasons and advise that the decision will 
be released in writing in due course, or advise that the Committee’s 
decision with reasons will be released within five working days of the 
hearing. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 55



PLEASE NOTE: 
 
• Where the Committee considers it necessary the procedure may be 

varied. 
 
• In circumstances where any party fails to attend the Committee will 

consider whether to proceed in that party’s absence or defer to the next 
meeting on notice to all parties that the matter may proceed in a party’s 
absence. In deciding whether to proceed all notices and 
representations will be considered. 

 
• Only in exceptional circumstances will the Committee take account 

of late documents, information or applications from a party which will 
be at the discretion of the Committee.  No new representations will be 
allowed at the hearing. 

 
• The Committee will disregard any information or representation 

presented by a party which is considered irrelevant. 
 
• The hearing will take the form of a discussion with questions and 

answer.   
 
• If any person has special needs regarding access, hearing or vision, 

this should be brought to the Licensing Authority’s attention prior to the 
hearing in order that reasonable adjustments can be made.  

 
• Parties will be allowed a maximum period of time to make 

representations. Although time limits will be at the discretion of the 
Chair, in the interests of costs and efficiency, this will not normally 
exceed thirty minutes to include presenting and summarising the 
Application. The time limit will not include the time taken for questions.  

 
N.B. 

 
• The Chair may require any person attending the hearing who is 

behaving in a disruptive manner to leave the hearing and refuse to 
allow that person to return, or only allow them to return subject to 
certain conditions.  Any person so excluded will however be entitled to 
submit to the Committee any information which they would have been 
entitled to give orally had they not been required to leave. 

 
• Bath & North East Somerset Council is committed to taking decisions 

in an honest, accountable and transparent fashion, but on occasion 
may find it necessary to exclude members of the press and public 
based upon the legal framework given in The Local Government Act 
1972 Schedule 12 (a).  On these occasions reasons for decisions 
based on the above framework will be given.  

 
S:\DEMOCRATIC SERVICES\WORDDOCS\REGULATORY AND CTTEES.DOC 

Page 56



LICENSING ACT 2003: NON CONTESTED CASINO APPLICATIONS 
 FLOW CHART 

 

Confirm parties have received and understood the procedure 

Licensing Officer introduces the report 

The Chair asks all parties to leave the room while a decision is reached. 
 

The parties and witnesses are invited to return to the meeting room 
whereupon the Chair may announce the Committee’s decision with 
reasons and advise that the decision will be released in writing in due 
course 

 
or advise that the Committee’s decision with reasons will be released 
within five working days of the hearing 
 

The Applicant will be invited to summarise the application, respond to any 
points raised during the hearing and make a closing statement 
 

The Committee may ask the Applicant and/or their witnesses questions. 
 

The Applicant and/or their representative address the Committee and may 
call witnesses. 

If a party is not present the Committee will decide whether to proceed or 
defer on notice to all parties that the matter may proceed in absence on 
the next occasion. 

Introductions by Chair. 

Page 57



Page 58

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Printed on recycled paper 1 

 
Bath & North East Somerset Council 

 

MEETING: Licensing Act 2003 Committee  

MEETING 
DATE: 13 December 2011 
TITLE: Grant of a Premises Licence for a Small Casino in Bath – Stage 2 of the 

Casino Competition  

WARD: ALL 

AN OPEN PUBLIC ITEM  

List of attachments to this report: 

Exempt Appendix 1 – Joint Venture between Stage 1 applicants at Stage 2  

Annexes A - T Copy correspondence  

Exempt Appendix 2 – Late submission of an application at Stage 2  

Annexes A - U          Documents and copy correspondence 

All the above documentation is exempt as it contains information relating to the financial 
or business affairs of the parties and information in respect of which a claim to legal 
professional privilege could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

Annexes which refer to the substance of the applications have been redacted in order to 
preserve confidentiality. 

 

 
 
1. THE ISSUE 

1.1  Bath and North East Somerset Council, as the Licensing Authority, have been 
granted permission to issue a premises licence for a small casino under The 
Gambling (Geographical Distribution of Casino Premises Licences) Order 2007 
(“the 2007 Order”). 
 

1.2  Council has resolved to take the necessary steps to issue the licence within its area 
pursuant to those Regulations, Part 8 and Schedule 9 of the Gambling Act 2005 
(“the Act”) and The Gambling (Inviting Competing Applications for Large and Small 
Casino Premises Licences) Regulations 2008 (“the 2008 Regulations). 

 
1.3 The procedure is based on a two stage competition process under the 2008 

Regulations.  Stage 1 is a regulatory process under which the Council grants a 
provisional statement/premises licence to any applicant who meets the licensing 
objectives contained in section 1 of the Act.   

 
1.4      The Council received four applications for provisional statements and all were 

granted on 7 and 8 June 2011.  The applicants were Apollo Resorts and Leisure 

Agenda Item 11

Page 59



 

Printed on recycled paper 2 

Limited (“Apollo”), Global Gaming Ventures Limited (“GGV”) Gala Casinos Limited 
(“Gala”) and Grosvenor Casinos Limited.   

 
1.5  All of the applicants were invited to participate in Stage 2 of the competition on 28 

July 2011.  Only two applied at Stage 2. 
 

 
2. RECOMMENDATIONS 

2.1  The Licensing Committee (“the Committee”) is asked to determine whether both 
competitors may stay in the competition having taken into account all of the facts 
and circumstances contained in the correspondence. 

 

3. FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 

3.1  The Committee must award the provisional statement/premises licence to the 
applicant whose application is likely to result in the greatest benefit to the area.  
Should one competitor be excluded from the competition, the Council may not be 
able to obtain the greatest benefit as there will be no competition and it will have to 
award the provisional statement/premises licence to the other competitor. 

 
3.2  It is open to Full Council to make a no casino resolution in which case there would 

be no competition at all and the Council would not be able to take advantage of the 
benefits which the successful applicant would have been able to deliver in the 
District. 

 
3.3 If the Committee decide to include or exclude one of the competitors, from the 

casino competition, it is open to that competitor to challenge this decision by way of 
Judicial Review.  In the alternative, if the Committee do decide to include both 
competitors in the casino competition, it is open to either competitor to challenge 
this decision by way of Judicial Review. 

 
4. THE REPORT 

4.1  Certain functions under the Act are delegated to the Committee including the 
determination of applications made at Stage 2 of the competition.  The Committee 
must award the provisional statement/premises licence to the applicant whose 
application is likely to result in the greatest benefit to the area. 

 
4.2  Full details of the issues to be discussed regarding Stage 2 of the competition are 

contained in Exempt Appendices 1 and 2 and their Annexes 
 
 
5. RISK MANAGEMENT 

5.1  A risk assessment related to the issue and recommendations has been 
undertaken, in compliance with the Council's decision making risk management 
guidance. 

 
6. EQUALITIES 

6.1  The Council’s Equality Policy has been followed in writing this report. 

Page 60



 

Printed on recycled paper 3 

 
6.2  The Committee will take into account their equality duties in determining this issue.  
 

7. CONSULTATION 

7.1  No consultation was required for this issue. 

 
8. ISSUES TO CONSIDER IN REACHING THE DECISION 

8.1  Human Rights. 

 
9. ADVICE SOUGHT 

9.1  The Council's Monitoring Officer (Divisional Director – Legal and Democratic 
Services), Section 151 Officer (Divisional Director - Finance), Divisional Director 
Environmental Services and Chair of the Licensing Committee have had the 
opportunity to input into this report and have cleared it for publication. 

Contact person  Andrew Jones, Environmental Monitoring and Licensing Manager 
01225 477557 

Background 
papers 

The Gambling Act 2005 
 

The Gambling (Geographical Distribution of Casino Premises 
Licences) Order 2007 
 

The Gambling (Inviting Competing Applications for Large and 
Small Casino Premises Licences) Regulations 2008 
 

The Categories of Casino Regulations 2008 
 

Code of Practice - Determinations under Paragraphs 4 and 5 of 
Schedule 9 to the Gambling Act 2005 relating to Large and Small 
Casinos dated 26 February 2008 
 

Guidance to Licensing Authorities issued by the Gambling 
Commission 3rd Edition dated May 2009 
 

BANES Statement of Principles dated February 2010 
 

Please contact the report author if you need to access this report in an 
alternative format 
 

Page 61



Page 62

This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 1 of 4 

 
Access to Information Arrangements 

 
Exclusion of access by the public to Council meetings 

 
 
Information Compliance Ref: LGA-11-022 
 
 
Meeting / Decision: Licensing Act 2003 Committee 
 
Date: 13 December 2011 
 
 
Author: Andrew Jones 
 
Report Title: Grant of a Premises Licence for a Small Casino in Bath – Stage 
2 of the Casino Competition 
 
Exempt Appendix Title:  
 
Exempt Appendix 1 – Joint Venture between Stage 1 applicants at Stage 2 
 
Annexes A-T 
 
Exempt Appendix 2 – Late submission of an application at Stage 2  
 
Annexes A-U 
 
 

 
The Report contains exempt information, according to the categories set out 
in the Local Government Act 1972 (amended Schedule 12A). The relevant 
exemption is set out below. 
 

 
The public interest test has been applied, and it is concluded that the public 
interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the public interest in 
disclosure at this time. It is therefore recommended that the Report be 

Stating the exemption: 
3. Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any particular 

person (including the authority holding that information). 
 

5. Information in respect of which a claim to legal professional privilege 
could be maintained in legal proceedings. 

 

Page 63



 

Page 2 of 4 

withheld from publication on the Council website. The paragraphs below set 
out the relevant public interest issues in this case. 
 
 

Page 64



 

Page 3 of 4 

PUBLIC INTEREST TEST 
 
 
Factors for withholding: 
 
• Regulation 8 (2)(b) of the Gambling Act 2005 (Proceedings of 

Licensing Committees & Sub-Committees) (Premises Licences & 
Provisional Statements) (England & wales) Regulations 2007, states 
that part or all of the hearing can take place in private where there is a 
need to protect as far as possible, the commercial or other legitimate 
interests of a party. 

 
• The Council considers that the information contained within the exempt 

appendices relates to the financial and business affairs of the parties 
who have submitted applications for Stage 2 of the competition and 
that release of this information would be likely to prejudice the 
commercial interests of these parties. 
 

• Includes the opinion of external legal advisors in relation to the issues 
at hand and legal advice as to the possible outcomes of the choices 
Committee will be making.  It is important that public authorities are 
allowed to conduct a free exchange of views as to their legal rights and 
obligations with those advising them without fear of intrusion.  Without 
such confidence there are risks of lack of openness between client and 
lawyer and threats to the administration of justice.  This thereby 
enables a public body to have confidence in that legal issues are being 
discussed fully.  There is an important public interest in such 
confidence. 

 
 

 
Factors for disclosure: 
 
• Further public understanding of the issues concerned. 

 
• Promote transparency by the Council for the decisions it takes 

 
• Allow individuals and companies to understand decisions made by the 

Council affecting their lives and assist individuals to challenge those 
decisions. 
 
 

 
Reasons why the public interest favours non-disclosure: 
 
• It is important for public authorities to be able to obtain unfettered legal 

advice in respect of proposed legal proceedings against its decisions 
and to be able to ask questions of Officers to enable the Elected 

Page 65



 

Page 4 of 4 

Members, tasked with representing the local community, to reach a 
decision after having taken such advice into account. 

 
• It is also important that the Committee should be able to retain some 

degree of private thinking space while decisions are being made, in 
order to discuss openly and frankly the issues under discussion and 
that they are able to share important information with Elected Members 
tasked with representing the local community. 
 

• The Council considers that the public interest has been served by the 
fact that a significant amount of information about the process and 
nature of the issues has been made available on these issues – by way 
of the main report. 
 

Page 66



Page 67

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 72

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 73

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 138

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 139

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 142

This page is intentionally left blank



Page 143

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3, 5 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted



Page 198

This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	7 MINUTES: 28 MARCH 2011
	8 REVIEW OF FUNCTIONS CARRIED OUT BY THE COUNCIL'S LICENSING SUB-COMMITTEES
	9 CONSULTATION ON THE ADOPTION OF NEW POWERS UNDER SCHEDULE 3 TO THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS) ACT 1982
	10 CASINO LICENSING PROCEDURE
	Contested Application Procedure
	Contested Appcs Flow Chart
	Non Contested Application Procedure
	Non-Contested Flow Chart

	11 GRANT OF A PREMISES LICENCE FOR A SMALL CASINO IN BATH - STAGE 2 OF THE CASINO COMPETITION
	Access to Information
	Appendix 1
	Appendix 1 annexes
	Appendix 2
	Appendix 2 annexes


